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A. IDENTITY OF RESPONDENT

The Petitioner is the State of Washington, represented by Karl F. Sloan,

Okanogan County Prosecuting Attorney.

B. DECISION
The Petitioner seeks review of the Court of Appeals decision reversing Ms.
Constantine’s conviction, in Court of Appeals case number 31313-1-lll, filed July 31,

2014. A copy of the decision is in the Appendix at pages A-1 through 24.

C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. The defendant sought to offer a conclusory hearsay statement from Dr.
Orvald, that did not satisfy the requirements of RCW 69.51A.010, without calling
a custodian of records or Dr. Orvald to admit the statement. Did the trial court err
in requiring medical testimony to admit the document necessary for the
defendant to raise and affirmative defense that she was a designated provider,
supporting the Court of Appeals decision reversing the defendant’s conviction?

2 The defendant sought to offer evidence that she was growing only 15 of the
121 plants in order to assert an affirmative defense that she was a designated
provider. Did the trial court err suppressing evidence of the affirmative defense
where the defendant denied growing any plants and that the she patient she
claimed to be providing for, had his own marijuana grow; supporting the Court of
Appeals decision that the defendant should have been able to raise the provider
defense at trial?

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

1. Substantive Facts Relevant to Petition




On June 30, 2010, Det. Jan Lewis, a trained aerial marijuana spotter with the North
Central Washington Narcotics Task Force, and Deputy Terry Shrable were flying in an Amy
National Guard helicopter in the area of Revas Basin Road near Tonasket, WA. CP 141-143;
RP Vol. |, July 11, 2011 (hereinafter “RP 7/11"), pg. 28-32. As the officers flew over a residence
located just off Revas Basin Road they observed two greenhouses. One of the greenhouses had
its plastic covering rolled back approximately half way. CP 141-143; RP 7/11 pg. 31-32. The
officers were able to see approximately 20 large growing marijuana plants in the uncovered
portion of the greenhouse. /d. The nearby residence was a small stick built house with a green
roof located just east of the greenhouses. A small stick built shed with a green roof was located

just to the west of the greenhouses. /d.

Officers confirmed the property address with the growing marijuana was 44 Revas Basin

Road, and the listed owner was co-defendant Morgan Davis. CP 142-143, RP 7-11 pg. 39-40.

On July 6, 2010, Det. Lewis and Det. Rubio flew over the property in a Border Patrol
Helicopter and observed the buildings and greenhouses. CP 143-145; RP 7/11 pg. 43-45. The
tops of the greenhouses were covered with plastic and dark green was visible through the plastic.

Id. Officers photographed the property from the air. /d.

The greenhouses were estimated to be 50-70 feet from the residence. RP 7/11 46; CP
139-144. There were no other houses near the greenhouses. /d. There were no other driveways
or access roads pemitting access to the property and greenhouses, except for the driveway

leading to the residence from the east (on the opposite side of the house from greenhouses). /d.

On July 7, 2010 Det. Lewis sought a search warrant to search the two large plastic

covered greenhouses, the house to the east of the greenhouses, and shed to the west of the




greenhouses. CP 139-140; RP 7/11 pg. 45. The search warrant affidavit was reviewed and
signed by Judge David Edwards on July 7, 2010, and the Judge then issued a search warrant on

the same day. CP 139-148; RP 7/11 pg. 45.

On July 8, 2010 the search warrant was executed on the property. Upon arival officers
made contact with the defendant, Adriane Constantine, outside the residence. RP 7/11 46-48,
124-130. She indicated her mother, or mother in law, Ms. Hale was in the house. Id. The
defendant requested that an officer retriever her marijuana card from inside the residence. /d.
Officers entered the residence to contact Ms. Hale and then had Ms. Hale remain outside the
house in a shaded area. Id. The defendant’s husband amived during the execution of the warrant.

RP 7/11 pg. 128-129.

During the execution of the warrant, officers located approximately 121 growing
marijuana piants RP 7/11 46. A few of the plants were located growing outside of the

greenhouses. RP 7/11 pg. 56.

Officers also found in the residence various quantities of processed/packaged marijuana,
marijuana seeds, paperwork and receipts, cash, electronic scale, and packaging material. CP

149-152. Officers found additional drying marijuana plants hanging in the small shed. /d.

The defendant was charged with one count of manufacture of marijuana under RCW

69.50.401. CP 176-177.

The trial court heard motions in limine on February 22, 2012. CP 49-53; RP 2/22/12, pg.
364. The trial court excluded evidence of the defendant’s alleged medical marijuana defense,
based in part on insufficiency of the record to show that the person for whom the defendant
claimed to be a designated provider (Tristan Gilbert), was a qualifying patient. CP 49-53; RP
3




2/22/12, pg. 364. In seeking to establish herself as a designated provider, the defendant
presented a document allegedly signed by Tristan Gilbert and the defendant to designate her as
a medical marijuana provider. CP 67. The document contained a limit of 15 plants. CP 67. The
defendant also pésented a “medical authorization” purportedly signed by Dr. Thomas Orvald in
which indicated the doctor was “...treating the above named patient for a terminal illness or

debilitating condition as defined in RCW 69.51A.010.” CP 66.

The defendant did not proceed to trial until October. The defendant was found guilty of

manufacture of marijuana by a jury on October 31, 2012. CP 19.

2. Procedural Facts

The defendant appealed her conviction. Division Ili of the Court of Appeals
reversed the defendant’s conviction, finding the trial court erred by requiring medical
testimony to admit the authorization form needed to claim Mr. Gilbert was a qualifying
patient that permitted the defendant act as a designated provider. See Appendix A.

The State now petitions for discretionary review.

E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD ACCEPTED

1. The Court of Appeals decision is in conflict with statutory authority and the rules
of evidence, where it held the trial court improperly excluded evidence about an
affirmative defense, when the defendant failed to provide sufficient admissible
evidence.

A defendant may be entitied to raise a medical marjuana defense and to have the jury

instructed on this defense if he or she presents facts sufficient to warrant such an instruction. The

elements of a medical marijuana affimative defense are set out by statute and require that a




qualified patient be diagnosed by health care professional authorize by statute, with a debilitating
disease and have valid documentation showing that he has been diagnosed, and also that the
defendant may benefit from the use of medical marijuana. RCW 69.51A.010(4).

qu the jury to be instructed on the marijuana medical defense, the burden is on the
defense to present some evidence on all the elements of the defense. RCW 69.51A.040; State
v. Shepherd, 110 Wn. App. 544, 41 P.3d 1235 (2002). A defendant is not entitied to have the
jury instructed on a theory of the case, unless those instructions are supported by evidence, the
instruction is not misleading, and it correctly informs the jury of the law. State v. Jacobs, 121 Wn.
App. 669, 89 P.3d 232 (2004) revd, 154 Wn.2d 596, 115 P.3d 281 (2005).

The affimative defense of medical use to marijuana crimes is statutory. The
requirements to assert the defense are clear and unambiguous. A defendant asserting an
affimative defense, bears the burden of offering sufficient evidence to support that defense.
State v. Tracy, 158 Wn.2d 683, 689, 147 P.3d 559 (2006)

An affirmative defense must be proved by the defendant by a preponderance of the
evidence. State v. Camara, 113 Wn.2d 631, 63940, 781 P.2d 483 (1989) (consent defense to
rape); State v. Rice, 102 Wn.2d 120, 122-26, 683 P.2d 199 (1984) (lack of knowledge defense to
accomplice liability); State v. Moses, 79 Wn.2d 104, 110, 483 P.2d 832 (1971); State v. Mays, 65
Whn.2d 58, 68, 395 P.2d 758 (1964); State v. Knapp, 54 Wn. App. 314, 320-22, 773 P.2d 134
(1989); State v. Gilcrist, 25 Wn. App. 327, 328-29, 606 P.2d 716 (1980) (involuntary intoxication
defense). This is so because generally, affimnative defenses are uniquely within the defendant's
knowledge and ability to establish. Knapp, 54 Wn. App. at 320-322.

To raise an affimative defense, the defendant must offer sufficient admissible evidence to

justify giving the jury an instruction on the defense. In evaluating whether the evidence is




sufficient to support such a jury instruction, the trial court must interpret the evidence most
strongly in favor of the defendant. Stafe v. Ginn, 128 Wn. App. 872, 879, 117 P.3d 1155, 1159
(2005).

Former RCW 69.51A.040. Provided an “affimative” defense to the crime of possession
or manufacture of marijuana. It states in part:

(2) If charged with a violation of state law relating to marijuana, any gualifying patient who
is engaged in the medical use of marijuana... will be deemed to have established an
affimative defense to such charges by proof of his or her compliance with the
requirements provided in this chapter. Any person meeting the requirements appropriate
to his or her status under this chapter shall be considered to have engaged in acfivities
permitted by this chapter and shall not be penalized in any manner, or denied any right or
privilege, for such actions. (Emphasis added).

(3) The qualifying patient, if eighteen years of age or older, shall.
(a) Meet all criteria for status as a qualifying patient;
(b) Possess no more marijuana than is necessary for the patient's personal,
medical use, not exceeding the amount necessary for a sixty-day supply; and
(c) Present his or her valid documentation to any law enforcement official who
guestions the patient regarding his or her medical use of marijuana.

The first step in interpreting a statute is to examine its plain language. Stafe v.
Armmendariz, 160 Wn.2d 106, 110, 156 P.3d 201 (2007). Plain meaning “is to be discemed from
the ordinary meaning of the language at issue, the context of the statute in which that provision is
found, related provisions, and the statutory scheme as a whole.” Stafe v. Engel, 166 Wn.2d 572,
578, 210 P.3d 1007 (2009). If the statute is unambiguous after a review of the plain meaning, the
court's inquiry is at an end.

Under former RCW 69.51A.040, in addition to meeting all the criteria to be a “qualifying
patient” (RCW 69.51A.010); the defendant must not possesses an amount of marijuana

exceeding the amount medically necessary for sixty days (i.e. 15 plants and/or 24 ounces); and

must provide “valid documentation” to law enforcement. Even if the defendant had been able to




provide “valid” documentation, a doctor’s “authorization” does not indicate that the presenter is
complying with the Act. See Fry at 10.

Here the defendant did not provide a valid medical marijuana authorization at the time of
the crime. The Court of Appeals decision undermines the statutory requirements set forth in
RCW 69.51A, and the standards to assert an affimative defense.

a. The defendant did not present valid medical marijuana documentation and
-could not show a health care provider had diagnosed a qualifying medical
condition that qualified under the statute or that authorized medical
marijuana.

The statute clearly requires the health care professional authorizing the defendant's
medical use of marijuana to have diagnosed the defendant with a condition that establishes the
qualifying patient status. 1t is not sufficient for a health care professional to simply claim that a
patient has been diagnosed with a qualifying condition. Instead, the defendant must actually put
on evidence that the health care professional that authorized the person to use marijuana
diagnosed the defendant with a specific medical condition that qualifies under the statute. State

v. Fry, 142 \Wn. App. 456, 462-463, 174 P.3d 1258 (2008) affd, 168 Wn.2d 1, 228 P.3d 1 (2010).

It is the defendant’s burden to show that this occurred. Even if the defendant had an
authorization, reliance on the vague language of the document was insufficient to carry her
burden. ! The lack of information in the stock forms left the health care providers as the only
witness who could provide the basic and necessary information. The forms presented did not
satisfy all the elements necessary to raise an affirmative defense. The vague content and nature

of the forms were also insufficient to offer the physician’s opinion.

! The authenticity of the documents the defendant provided to assert Tristan Gilbert was a “qualifying patient”

was questionable on its face. Mr. Gilberts alleged authorization form had his name is typed in different font than
any other portions of the document. CP 66, 63, 70. No offer of proof, testimony, or other evidence was offered to
authenticate the document.
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The statute is specific in the element requiring valid documentation. The required proof is
tantamount to the level of certainty required of expert opinions in courts. There are legal
consequences that attach to these scientific opinions. Therefore, the statute requires the
physician to express his opinion about the medical benefits of the marijuana to a level of medical
certainty. Shepherd, 110 Wn. App. at 551.

The statute requires that the patient has been diagnosed by that physician as having a
qualifying terminal or debilitating medical condition. On its face the documentation presented
failed. If the document was in fact prepared by the physician, then Dr. Orvald did not state that
he diagnosed Mr. Gilbert. At best he claimed to be “treating” him. Moreover the documentation
fails on its face to indicate what, if any, the qualifying “terminal or debilitating medical condition” is
that allows for the use of medical marijuana.

The documents offered by defendant were also hearsay and inadmissible under the rules
of evidence. Nothing in the medical marijuana statutes overrules or amends the rules of
evidence. The fact that one element of the statute requires a defendant to present
documentation to law enforcement, in no way relieves the defendant of his or her burden to
prove other necessary facts to raise the affirmative defense. Nor does the statute make
inadmissible hearsay admissible, or eliminate the foundational requirements necessary to offer
expert testimony. See ER 702. More importantly, the Statute does not limit, or eliminate, the
defendant’s discovery obligation under the court rules and rules of evidence, when he or she
seeks to offer expert testimony. See CRR 4.7(d) and (g); ER 705.

The right to compulsory process is synonymous with the right to present a defense. State
v. Maupin, 128 Wn.2d 918, 924, 913 P.2d 808 (1996). But the right to present a defense is not

absolute. Maupin, 128 Wn.2d at 924-25. A criminal defendant has a constitutional right to present




relevant evidence that is not otherwise inadmissible. E.g., Stafe v. Rehak, 67 Wn. App. 157, 162,
834 P.2d 651 (1992).

The documents provided did not support all the elements required by statdte, and did not
establish a prima facie case to assert the affimative defense. 2

The Court of Appeals decision that the trial court committed error is not supported.

b. The defendant did not offer evidence that she was permitted to possess
more than a presumptive 60 day supply of marijuana.

It was the defendant’s burden to show that she possessed no more than a presumptive

60 day supply of marijuana. See WAC 246-75-010. The presumption may be overcome with

? The definitions governing the application of the affirmative defense of medical marijuana were set out in former
RCW 69.51A.010. It stated in part:

(1) "Medical use of marijuana" means the production, possession, or administration of marijuana, as defined in
RCW 69.50.101(g), for the exclusive benefit of a qualifying patient in the treatment of his or her terminal or
debilitating iliness. )

{3) "Qualifying patient" means a person who:
(a) Is a patient of a physician licensed under chapter 18.71 or 18.57 RCW;
(b) Has been diagnosed by that physician as having a terminal or debilitating medical condition;
(c) Is a resident of the state of Washington at the time of such diagnosis;
(d) Has been advised by that physician about the risks and benefits of the medical use of marijuana; and
(e) Has been advised by that physician that they may benefit from the medical use of marijuana.

(4) "Terminal or debilitating medical condition" means:

{a) Cancer, human immunodeficiency virus (H1V), multiple sclerosis, epilepsy or other seizure disorder, or
spasticity disorders; or

(b) Intractable pain, limited for the purpose of this chapter to mean pain unrelieved by standard medical
treatments and medications; or

(c) Glaucoma, either acute or chronic, limited for the purpose of this chapter to mean increased intraocular
pressure unrelieved by standard treatments and medications; or

{d) Any other medical condition duly approved by the Washington state medical quality assurance board
[commission] as directed in this chapter.

(5) "valid documentation" means:

(a) A statement signed by a qualifying patient's physician, or a copy of the qualifying patient's pertinent medical
records, which states that, in the physician's professional opinion, the potential benefits of the medical use of
marijuana would likely outweigh the health risks for a particular qualifying patient; and

(b) Proof of identity such as a Washington state driver's license or identicard, as defined in RCW 46.20.035.

Former RCW 69.51A.010 (emphasis added).




evidence of a qualifying patient's necessary medical use. /d.

Case law prior to establishment of the presumptive 60 day supply indicated a valid sixty-
day supply requires evidence from health care professional as to how much the patient reduires
for a sixty-day supply because, “without that statement, there is no way for us to decide whether
the amount . . . fell within the 60-day limitation imposed by the Act.” Shepherd, 110 Wn. App.
544. In Shepherd, 110 Wn. App. 544, the court noted that the defendant needed to provide
evidence as to the amount of marijuana the defendant needs to alleviate or mitigate his medical
problems. Shepherd, 110 Wn. App. at 552. The court went on to note that there must be some
evidence from a doctor as to the 60-day supply. The same evidence would be necessary to
establish possession of amounts in excess of the presumptive 60 day supply.

The defendant did not provide evidence of the medically determined quantify of
marijuana. Where defendant fails to provide evidence as to how much marijuana the patient's
treating physician believed the defendant would need, the defendant has failed to prove that the
number of plants seized was no more than was necessary to meet the patient's marijuana supply
for no more than 60 days. See, Shepherd, 110 Wn. App. at 552-553. The statute requires that
the defendant possess no more marijuana than is necessary for the patient's personal, medical
use. The determination must be made by the physician regarding what amount is medically
necessary.

| In this case, the forms attributed to Dr. Orvald failed to reference any amounts. The
defendant was not qualified to testify as to how much marijuana is medically necessary. ER 701
clearly states that “if a witness is not testifying as an expert, the witness’ testimony in the form of
opinions or inferences is limited to those opinions or inferences which are . . . (c) not based on

scientific, technical, or other specialized knowledge within the scope of rule 702.” Testimony
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conceming the treatment of a complex medical condition is not within the scope of evidence that
a lay witness would be able to testify to and thus, the defendant’s opinion on how much
marijuana she might medically need in 60-days is irrelevant and inadmissible to show that the
defendant had only the marijuana necessary for her personal, medical 60-day supply. Further,
the court in Shepherd, 110 Wn. App. 544 clearly indicated that this information must come from a
doctor.

Based on the information presented, the defendant offered no proof to support her
assertion that she needed to manufacture more than the statutory presumed 60 day supply. The
defendant could not carry her burden to assert the affimative defense.

2. The proposed defense that the co-defendant was responsible for the marijuana

precluded raising an affirmative defense.

An affimative defense admits the defendant committed a criminal act but pleads an excuse
for doing so. State v. Fry, 168 Wn.2d 1, 7, 228 P.3d 1 (2010); State v. Votava, 149 Wn.2d 178,
187, 66 P.3d 1050 (2003) (citing State v. Riker, 123 Wn.2d 351, 367, 869 P.2d 43 (1994)).

In the present case, defense initially stated they were not asserting a medical marijuana
affirative defense. RP 7/12, pg. 286, 293-294. Ultimately, the defendant sought to offer an
affirative defense, while still claiming she did not commit the crime. The defendant cannot
assert an affirmative defense, while denying the underlying act. See e.g., State v. Barragan, 102
Whn. App. 754, 9 P.3d 942 (2000), P.3d 942 (2000) (defendant cannot deny striking someone
and then claim the affirmative defense of self-defense).

Appellant asserts her defense was that part of the marijuana was hers, part was for a
qualifying patient and “...that any remaining manjuana belonged exclusively to her co-defendant

husband...who was lawfully growing marijjuana for as a dispensary for a larger medical

11




marijuana supplier” Appellant's brief pg. 17. See also RP 7/12, pg.290-291 (defense asserted
the defendant did not grow any marijuana).

Because the Appellant cannot deny the crime of manufacture of marijuana and still claim an
affirmative defense, on that basis alone, the court properly prohibited he defendant from raising
the affirmative defense.

The defendant’s denial of involvement in manufacturing was also undermined by her
involvement as a one of the “goveming people” in the Canna Loon dispensary. The information
was included in documents the defendant provided to the court. CP 75-79. See also RP 7/12, pg.
286-294. Involvement in manufacturing and delivering marijuana to others wouid also have
prevented the defendant from asserting an affirative defense as she would not be incompliance
with the statutory requirements.

It is also significant to note that the defense advised the court that despite the designation as
a provider, the defendant did not grow marijuana for Mr. Gilbert, because he had his own grow.
RP 7/12, pg. 290-291. This in and of itself should have eliminated the affirmative defense that
the defendant was a designated provider.

Although the court properly limited evidence of the affirmative defense; nothing in the court's
ruling limited the defendant from raising the defense that her co-defendant was responsible for
the manufacture of marijuana. On the contrary, the trial court ruled the co-defendant could testify.
The defendant chose not to offer that defense.

The Court of Appeals decision that the number of plants shbuld have been a question for the
jury, and the trial court erred in limiting that evidence of the affirmative defense, is not supported

in light of the defendant’s denial of manufacturing marijuana.

12




F. CONCLUSION

Diséretionary Review should be granted. There frial court did not err in limiting
the defendant’s affirmative defense where the defendant failed to provide evidence to
support the defense and where the defendant denied the criminal act of manufacture.

There court should grant review and reverse Court of Appeals decision reversing
the conviction.

Dated this 2 day of D = 2014,

Respe mitted by:

KARL F. SLOAN, WSBA #27217
Prosecuting Attorney
Okanogan County, Washington
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FILED

JULY 31,2014
In the Office of the Clerk of Court
WA State Court of Appeals, Division kIl

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

DIVISION THREE
STATE OF WASHINGTON, ) No. 31313-1-II1
) .
Respondent, )
)
\A ) OPINION PUBLISHED
) IN PART
ADRIANE CONSTANTINE, )
)
Appellant. )

LAWRENCE-BERREY, J. — During a helicopter flyover of property located on
Reevas Basin Road near Tonasket, Washington, law enforcement observed at least 20
marijuana plants growing in a partially uncovered greenhouse. The property belonged to
Morgan Davis, husband of Adriane Constantine. An Okanogan deputy sheriff obtained a
warrant to search two greenhouses, a house, and a shed on the property. The search
uncovered numerous ma;‘ijuana plants in the greenhouses. In the home, the officers found
processed marijuana and distribution paraphernalia. Ms. Constantine was charged with
and found guilty of manufacture of marijuana. Ms. Constantine appeals, contending the
officers lacked probable cause to search the house because officers failed to establish a

nexus between the marijuana in the greenhouses and the house. She also contends that
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No. 31313-1-IlI

State v. Constantine

the court erred by requiring the testimony of Dr, Thomas Orvald before it would instruct
the jury on her medical marijuana affirmative defenses.

We conclude that there was a sufficient nexus between the greenhouses and the
house to support probable cause to search the house. We determine that Ms. Constantine
raised only the designated provider medical marijuana affirmative defense, and conclude
that the trial court erred by requiring Dr. Orvald to testify as a prerequisite to allowing
Ms. Constantine to raise this defense. Specifically, the medical marijuana laws do not
require Ms. Constantine to prove that the patient to whom she is a provider have a
specific terminal or debilitating medical condition; rather, the laws require that she prove
that such patient was diagnosed by a physician as having a terminal or debilitating
medical condition. Because the testimony of the diagnosing physician is not necessary to
establish this, we reverse Ms. Constantine’s conviction.

FACTS -

On June 30, 2010, Detective Jan Lewis of the North Central Washington Narcotics
Task Force and Deputy Terry Shrable of the Okanogan County Sheriff’s Office flew in a
helicopter over property located near Tonasket, Washington. T.he officers observed two
greenhouses. One greenhouse was partially uncovered, revealing approximately 20 large

growing marijuana plants. The officers noted other buildings on the property, including a
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small stick built house located just east of the greenhouses and a small stick built shed
west of the greenhouses. Officers confirmed that the address of the property was

44 Reevas Basin Road and that it was owned by Mr. Davis.

. Detective Lewis flew over the property again on July 6. The tops of the
greenhouses were covered with plastic, but the detective saw dark green coloring through
the plastic. Detective Lewis believed the green color to be growing marijuana plants.

The next day, Detective Lewis obtained a warrant to search the two greenhouses,
the house, and the shed on Reevas Basin Road, The search warrant authorized searching
for evidence of manufacturing marijuana, including books, records, receipts, ownership-
of the residence, and identifying information. In addition to a narrative of events by
Detective Lewis, the warrant included an aerial photograph of the property taken during
| the July 6 flyover. The affidavit stated, “In this photo you can clearly see the green
houses to the left of the house. The larger of the two green houses was half opened when
the initial flight was done. This is the one that I could see growing marijuana plants in.
Everything in the photo including the outbuildings is on the same parcel of property.
There are no other driveways or houses except for the one in the photo that have access to

these marijuana plants.” Clerk’s Papers (CP) at 167.
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On July 8, officers executed the search warrant. Upon arrival at the property,
officers made contact with Ms. Constantine outside of the residence. Officer Steve
Brown told Ms. Constantine that the officers were executing a search warrant on the
home and informed her of the purpose of the search. Both before and after execution of
the warrant, Ms. Constantine told the officers that she knew the law, had a marijuana
card, and wanted a lawyer. Ms. Constantine asked Officer Brown to retrieve her medical
marijuana card from inside the house. The officer declined and advised her of her
Miranda rights. Officer Brown told Ms. Constantine that the medical marijuana card
would not make a difference because there were too many plants. The officer did not
further question Ms. Constantine, but she continued to make statements without being
questioned. Ms. Constantine’s medical marijuana card was found in her purse during the
search qf the house.

Officers located approximately 121 growing marijuana plants. The plants were
primarily found in the greenhouses, with the exception of a few plants found growing
outside. Inside the residence, officers found various quantities of processed marijuana,
packaged marijuana, marijuana seeds, paperwork, receipts, cash, an electronic scale, and

packaging material. In the small shed, officers found several dried marijuana plants.

Y Miranda v. Arizona, 384 U.S. 436, 86 S. Ct. 1602, 16 L. Ed. 2d 694 (1966).
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Ms. Constantine was arrested and charged with one count of manufacture of
marijuana under RCW 69.50.401(1). She moved to suppress the evidence found in the
house and the shed. She argued that the officers lacked probable cause to search the
house and shed because there was no nexus between the greenhouses and the house and
shed.

The trial court denied the motion. The court concluded that a clear legal nexus;
existed between. the house, greenhouses, outbuildings, and immediate su&ounding areas.
In support of this conclusion, the court found that the photograph and the testimony
showed the land, house, greenhouses, garden area, and outbuildings all within a clearly
defined living compound. Additionally, the residence was approximately 50 to 70 feet
from the greenhouses and there were no other houses nearby. The buildings were well
separated from other structures or homes; the nearest éther structure to the property was
over 700 yards away. Also, only one access road approached the property and ended on
the property.

Months prior to trial, the State filed a motion in limine, One aspect of the motion
in limine sought to suppress any reference to a medical marjjuana defense for Ms.
Constantine, either as a designated provider or as a qualifying patient. Ms. Constantine

asserted a designated provider defense, but not a qualifying patient defense. To support
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the designated provider defense, Ms, Constantine presented only three documents: (1) A
medical marijuana authorization for Tristan Gilbert, signed by Dr. Thomas Orvald; (2) A
document signed by Mr. Gilbert naming Ms. Constantine as his designated provider for
supplying his medical marijuana; and (3) A verification from the Washington State
Department of Health confirming that Dr. Orvald was a licensed physician in the state of
Washington during the relevant time period.

The medical marjjuana authorization, signed by Dr. Orvald, stated that Mr, Gilbert
was his patient, that he had diagnosed Mr. Gilbert with a terminal illness or debilitating
condition as defined by RCW 69.51A.010, that he had advised Mr. Gilbert of the
potential risks and benefits of the medical use of marijuana, and that in his opinion, the
potential benefits of the medical use of marijuana would likely outweigh the health risks.
Ms. Constantine did not submit any medical records that identified the nature of Mr.
Gilbert’s illness or condition. Moreover, the medical marijuana authorization signed by
Dr. Orvald did not specify the natufe of Mr. ‘Gilbert’s illness or condition, nor did it
identify what if any medical records were reviewed by Dr. Orvald prior to him signing the
medical authorization. The designation of provider authorization included a limit of 15

plants and was in effect at the time of the search of Mr. Davis’s property.
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Even though Ms. Constantiﬁe stated in her motion that she was not asserting an
affirmative defense based on her individual status as a qualifying patient, she nevertheless
presented two authorization documents to establish her qualifying use. Both
authorizations stated that Ms. Constantine was being treated for a terminal illness or
debilitating condition, The first authorization was signed by Dr. Orvald and was effective
from March 2, 2009 to March 2, 2010. The second authoriéation was signed by Dr. Jason
Ling and was' effective from August 23, 2010 to August 23, 2011. Neither document was
in effect at the time of the July 8, 2010 search. Also, neither document listed Ms.
Constantine’s illness nor her condition.

During the motion in limine argument, defense counsel addressed the discrepancy
between the 121 marijuana plants found and the 15 plants that the defendant was
permitted to grow for Mr. Gilbert:

Basically with regard to the designated provider defense, my client would

. . . offer, by way of proffer, that [she] . . . was responsible for growing the

15 plants [for] Mr. Gilbert—they never went to fruition . . . . But that’s—

the 15 plants were hers and the other plants were [her husband’s].

... I think there was a distinction . . . in the way they were lined up
out there.

RP at 345-46.
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The court found that the Washington Pattern Jury Instructions Criminal 52.11 set
out the six elements of the designated provider defense.? The court noted that Ms.
Constantine was required to prove that Mr. Gilbert was a qualifying patient, which in turn
required proof that he had been diagnosed by a physician as having a terminal or
debilitating medical condition. See RCW 69.51A.010(4).

The court ruled that Ms. Constantine presented questions of fact for most of the six
elements, but that the three documents submitted in response to the State’s motion in
limine were insufficient to prove that Mr. Gilbert was a qualifying patient. The court

reasoned;

21t is a defense to a charge of manufacture of [manufacture] of marijuana

that:

(1) the defendant is eighteen years of age or older; and

(2) the defendant was designated as a designated provider to a qualifying
patient prior to assisting the patient with the medical use of
marijuana; and :

(3) the defendant possessed no more marijuana than necessary for the
qualifying patient’s personal, medical use for a sixty-day period; and

(4) the defendant presented a copy of the qualifying patient’s valid
documentation to any law enforcement official who requested such
information; and ’

(5) the defendant did not consume any of the marijuana obtained for the
personal, medical use of the qualifying patient for whom the
defendant is acting as designated provider; and

(6) the defendant was the designated provider to only one qualifying
patient at any one time.

11 WASHINGTON PRACTICE: WASHINGTON PATTERN JURY INSTRUCTIONS: CRIMINAL

8
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The question is whether medical testimony from the authorizing
physician is required to establish [certain] elements of the defense. The
medical documents do not speak for themselves. In order to obtain
instructions on designated provider, the defendant must provide evidence
that Mr, Gilbert was [a] qualifying patient. . . . Mr. Gilbert’s testimony and
documentation is not sufficient. Medical testimony is required from the

prescribing provider. . .. Testimony about the underlying condition and it
being a qualifying condition to make Mr. Gilbert a qualifying patient is
necessary.

The jury must find the existence of the debilitating or terminal

condition. The medical marijuana statute does not overrule the rules of

evidence. Separate from the paperwork, there must be proof of the terminal

or debilitating condition.

Based on the information provided to the court [in the motion in

limine], the court will not instruct on [the] medical marijuana designated

provider defense without medical testimony that Mr. Gilbert is a qualifying

patient.
CP at 51-52.

Ms, Constantine did not or could not obtain Dr. Orvald’s testimony at trial.
Rather, Ms. Constantine sought to submit her qualifying patient medical marijuana
authorization and designated provider authorization from Mr. Gilbert to Ms. Constantine.

The State moved to suppress this evidence. The State contended that the evidence was
not needed because there was no ability for Ms. Constantine to get a qualifying patient

affirmative defense instruction. Ms. Constantine argued that the evidence explained the

story of the search, including Ms. Constantine’s words to officers in execution of the

52.11, at 1014 (3d ed. 2008) (emphasis added).
9
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warrant. The State contended that this effort was a back door approach to raise the
affirmative defense without a jury instruction, and that Ms. Constantine had not offered
the proof to assert either affirmative defense.

The court granted the motion to exclude the evidence. The court found that Ms,
Constantine was not entitled to a qualifying patient affirmative defense because her
authorization for her personal use was expired at the time of the search and therefore not
valid. For the designated provider defense, the court relied on its earlier ruling on the
matter. Even so, the court allowed Ms. Constantine to explain her statements to officers
that she wanted to get the card. A jury found Ms. Constantine guilty of manufacture of
marijuana.

Ms. Constantine appealed. She first challenges the denial of her motion to
suppress the evidence found in the search of the house. She contends that officers lacked
probable cause to search the house and shed be@ause there was no nexus between these
buildings and the suspected criminal activity observed in the greenhouses. She next
challenges the trial court’s refusal to give the qualifying patient and designated provider
affirmative defense jury instructions. She contends that the evidence was sufficient to

submit the affirmative defense instructions to the jury.

10
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ANALYSIS

Probable Cause to Search the House. Review of a probable cause determination

has a historical fact component and a legal component. State v. Emery, 161 Wn, App.
172, 201-02, 253 P.3d 413 (2011), aff’d, 174 Wn.2d 741, 278 P.3d 653 (2012). On
matters of historical fact finding, we apply an abuse of discretion standard when
reviewing a magistrate’s decision on whether information provided in the warrant is
reliable and credible. Id. at 202. Then, for the legal component, we apply de novo review
to determine whether the qualifying information as a whole amounts to probable cause.
Id. We consider only the information that was available to the issuing magistrate. State
v. Olson, 73 Wn. App. 348, 354, 869 P.2d 110 (1994). “‘It is only the probability of
criminal activity, not a prima facie showing of it, that governs probable cause. The
[issuing judge] is entitled to make reasonable inferences from the facts and circumstances
set out in the affidavit.’” Emery, 161 Wn. App. at 202 (alteration in original) (quoting
State v. Maddox, 152 Wn.2d 499, 505, 98 P.3d 1199 (2004)).

A search warrant may only be issued upon a determination of probable cause.
State v. Cole, 128 Wn.2d 262, 286, 906 P.2d 925 (1995). Probable cause exists where

there are facts sufficient to establish a reasonable inference that the defendant is involved

11
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in criminal activity and that evidence of the criminal activity can be found at the place
searched. State v. Thein, 138 Wn.2d 133, 140, 977 P.2d 582 (1999).

A warrant is overbroad and violates the particularity requirement if the warrant
authorizes police to search persons or seize things for which there is no probable cause.
State v. Maddox, 116 Wn. App. 796, 806, 67 P.3d 1135 (2003), aff"d, 152 Wn.2d at 499.
Probable cause requires not only a nexus between criminal activity and the item to be
seized but also a nexus between the item to be seized and the place to be searched. Thein,
138 Wn.2d at 140 (quoting State v. Goble, 88 Wn. App. 503, 509, 945 P.2d 263 (1997)).
“Absent a sufficient basis in fact from which to conclude evidence of illegal activity will
likely be found at the place to be searched, a reasonable nexus is not established as a
matter of law.” Id. at 147.

Facts that individually would not support probable cause can do so when viewed
together with other facts. State v. Garcia, 63 Wn. App. 868, 875, 824 P.2d 1220 (1992).
The application for a search warrant must be judged in the light of common sense,
resolving all doubts in favor of the warrant. State v. Partin, 88 Wn.2d 899, 904, 567 P.2d
1136 (1977). “Judges looking for probable cause in an affidavit may draw reasonable

inferences about where evidence is likely to be kept, including nearby land and buildings

12
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under the defendant’s control.” State v. Gebaroff, 87 Wn. App. 11, 16, 939 P.2d 706
(1997).

Here, the nexus requirement is met. The warrant contains information that Mr.
Davis, Ms. Constantine’s husband, owns and controls the property on which the buildings
stand and that the type of evidence sought could be found in the greenhouses, the house,
and the shed. The relevant facts are that officers observed at least 20 marijuana plants
growing in a greenhouse on Mr, Davis’s property. Located close to the greenhouses were
a home and a shed. These buildings were on a clearly defined living compound owned by
Mr. Davis. Only one foad driveway accessed both the greenhouses and the house, and
dead ended on the property.

The illegal activity identified in the affidavit is the manufacture of a controlled
substance, with intent to deliver marijuana. The affidavit requested a warrant to search
the greenhouses, house, and shed for books, records, receipts, notes, ledgers and other
papers related to the manufacture and processing of marijuana; for names and addresses
of others that may be involved in the illegal possessing and trafficking of marijuana;
ownership of the residence; any and all records and receipts showing dominion and
control over the house at 44 Reevas Basin Road; and any or all other material evidence in

violation of RCW 69.50.401, to include but not limited to drug paraphernalia for

13
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packaging, weighing, distributing, and using marijuana. It is reasonable to believe that
items to be seized would be found in the house located adjacent to the greenhouses. It is
also reasonable to believe that the house would be used by the persons tending the
marijuana in the two greenhouses and would also be used to package and weigh the large
amount of marijuana that is grown in the greenhouses.

Despite Ms. Constantine's contention, Thein does not control the outcome of her
appeal. Thein establishes that general statements regarding the common habits of drug
dealers are not sufficient to establish probable cause when considered alone. Thein, 138
Wn.2d at 150-51. But here, probable cause was supported by more than an implied
assumption of where evidence may be kept. It was not unreasonable for the issuing judge
to believe that evidence of the crime would be found in the house based on Mr. Davis’s
ownership and control of the property where both the observed criminal activity and the
house were located, the proximity of the home to the criminal activity, and the tjrpe of
evidence sought in the warrant. We affirm the trial court’s determination that the
magistrate properly issued the search warrant.

Affirmative Defenses. We note that Ms. Constantine did not assert to the trial court
that she was a qualifying patient. She, therefore, waived this affirmative defense. We

also note that the trial court did not bar Ms. Constantine from asserting a designated
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provider affirmative defense. Rather, it held that the rules of evidence required Ms.
Constantine to call Dr. Orvald as a trial witness to establish whether Mr. Gilbert suffered
from a terminal or debilitating medical condition.

One asserting the designated provider affirmative defense must make a prima facie
showing that he or she was assisting a “qualifying patient.” Former RCW 69.51A.040(3)
(2007); State v. Ginn, 128 Wn. App. 872, 879, 117 P.3d 1155 (2005). A “qualifying
patient” means a person who (a) is a patient of a health care professional; (b) has been
diagnosed by that health care professional as having a terminal or debilitating medical
condition; (c) is a resident of the state of Washington at the time of such diagnosis;

(d) has been advised by that health care professional about the risks and benefits of the
medical use of marijuana; and (¢) has been advised by that health care professional that
they may benefit from the medical use of marijuana. RCW 69.51A.010(4).

Here, the trial court interpreted RCW 69.51A.010(4) as requiring a defendant to
prove that the patient actually have a terminal or debilitating medical condition.
However, that subsection does not require this; rather, it requires a defendant to prove
that the patient “has been diagnosed” as having a terminal or debilitating medical
condition. The legislature, within constitutional limitations, may proscribe what proof'is

needed for an affirmative criminal defense. The legislature chose to allow designated
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providers to rely upon a signed medical authorization without also requiring such
providers to suffer criminal penalties if their reliance was misplaced. Here, it is
uncontested that Dr. Orvald diagnosed Mr. Gilbert as having a terminal or debilitating
medical condition. This diagnosis is sufficient. Whether the diagnosis is correct or true
is not relevant. Because the correctness or the truth of the diagnosis is not relevant, the
court erred in requiring Dr. Orvald to testify.3

The State argues that Stare v. Fry, 168 Wn.2d 1, 228 P.3d 1 (2010) requires Ms.
Constantine td prove that she had a specific medical condition that qualified under the
statute. We disagree. In Fry, Mr. Fry was diagnosed by his doctor with various
conditions, none of which met that statutory definition. Jd. at 11-13. The majority
opinion did not decide whether a conclusory statement signed by a physician that his
patient had a terminal or debilitating medical condition would be sufficient. However,
the concurring opinion of Justice Chambers, signed by three other justices, notes that a
conclusory statement signed by a physician should be sufficient. /d. at 18. This portion

of Justice Chambers’s concurring opinion was expressly approved by Justice Sanders in

3 By so holding, we are not inferring that the medical authorization is self-
authenticating. The medical authorization is a business record and, unless the prosecutor
agrees otherwise, the defendant will be required to have the medical authorization
admitted through a custodian of the record. State v. DeVries, 149 Wn.2d 842, 846-48, 72
P.3d 748 (2003).
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his dissent. Id, at 23. Thus, there were five justices who held that a conclusory statement
signed by a physician that his patient has a terminal or a debilitating condition should be
sufficient.

The State urges us to affirm on the alternative basis that Ms. Constantine
possessed much more than 15 marijuana plants, the number permitted under Mr. Gilbert’s
authorization. We decline to affirm on this alternative basis. Although a defendant must
show by a preponderance of the evidence that she or he is entitled to the medical use of
marijuana act’s defense, when deciding whether to permit an issue to go to the jury, “the
trial court must interpret the evidence most strongly in favor of the defendant.” State v.
Otis, 151 Wn. App. 572, 578, 213 P.3d 613 (2009). Here, during the motion in limine
argument, Ms. Constantine asserted that she was responsible for growing only the 15
plants allowed in accordance with Mr. Gilbert’s authorization, and that the remaining

plants belonged to her husband and were segregated. Because we must interpret the

4 The dissent disagrees with this holding. However, as a lower appellate court, we
are required to adhere to precedent. Precedent includes a majority of justices, even a
majority that is comprised of concurring and dissenting opinions.

The dissent also faults Ms. Constantine for not offering medical records to support
her affirmative defense. The dissent’s point would be well taken had the trial court
permitted such records to establish the nature of the qualifying condition, However, the
trial court did not permit this. Rather, it required Ms. Constantine to present medical
testimony to establish a qualifying condition before it would instruct the jury on the
designated provider affirmative defense.

17
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evidence most strongly in favor of Ms. Constantine, given this record, we hold that the
numbef of plants possessed by her is an issue of fact for the jury.

In conclusion, we hold that the trial court erred by requiring Dr. Orvald to testify in
support of Ms, Constantine’s affirmative defense. We therefore reverse Ms,
Constantine’s conviction, and remand this case for a new trial.

The remainder of this opinion has no precedential value. Therefore, it will be filed
for public record in accordance with RCW 2.06.040, the rules governing unpublished
opinions.

Statement of Additional Grounds for Review. Ms. Constantine also filed a pro se

statement of additional grounds. Primarily, she challenges the credibility of law
enforcement testimony and offers an alternate version of events. These issues of
conflicting testimony, credibility of witnesses, and the persuasiveness of the evidence are

matters for the trier of fact and are not subject to review. State v. Thomas, 150 Wn.2d
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821, 874-75, 83 P.3d 970 (2004). Ms. Constantine’s remaining single statement
allegations are either too vague or contain matters outside the record of this case. They

do not merit review and will not be addressed.

M(’\\ 3

Lawrence-Berrey, J \

I CONCUR:

jﬁd/wq a‘j/‘

Fearing, J. d‘
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KORSMO, J. (dissenting) — The trial court correctly recognized that there needed to

be proof of the “terminal or debilitating medical condition.” There was no proof, but
only the conclusory statement that one existed. There also is no basis for granting a new
trial on theories that were not pursued at the first trial. Adriane Constantine was free to
offer the doctor’s business records at trial through a proper custodian of the record, but
she made no effort to do so. Having refused to pursue this approach at trial, she does not
get a second trial to attempt to pursue a new defense theory for which she also has not
provided a factual basis. In other words, the defendant failed to offer adequate evidence
or provide a witness who could offer it. For both reasons, I dissent.

Initially, I take issue with the ruling that the defendant did not have to prove that
the “qualifying patient” had been diagnosed with one of the statutory conditions that
constitute a “terminal or debilitating medical condition.” RCW 69.51A.010(6). The
majority focuses on the word “diagnosed” in RCW 69.51A.010(4)(b)! while ignoring the
remainder of the subsection—what the diagnosis must concern. Whether or not the

diagnosed condition is a “terminal or debilitating” one is a question of fact for the jury to

! In pertinent part, RCW 69.51A.010 reads:
(4) “Qualifying patient” means a person who:

(b) Has been diagnosed by that health care professional as having a
terminal or debilitating medical condition.

3
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decide. It is just as much a factual component, subject to jury proof, as the other
elements of the defense. The majority correctly concludes that the stafute does not
require proof that the patient actually has the disease in question, but that conclusion
misses the point of the argument. The defendant does not have to show that the diagnosis
was accurate, but she does have to show that it involved one of the conditions listed in
RCW 69.51A.010(6).2

There is no such proof in this case. The salient portion of the medical
authorization states: “I am treating the above named patient for a terminal illness or a
debilitating condition as defined in RCW 69.51A.010.” Clerk’s Papers (CP) at 66.
Although perhaps the jury could permissibly infer from the word “‘treating” that a
physician must have first “diagnosed” the patient, nothing in this statement conveys what
the diagnosis was. Instead, the form simply states the medical professional’s (improper)
legal conclusion about the unstated diagnosis. No information is provided for the jury to
determine whether the condition is one recognized by statute as a basis for medical
marijuana use.

In a properly presented case, the defense would offer medical evidence that the

patient was diagnosed with a particular condition. The jury would receive an instruction

2 The trial judge wisely recognized: “So, the statement that the underlying
condition doesn’t have to be provided in the valid documentation does not mean that it
doesn’t have to be shown at trial. It does have to be shown at trial.” Report of
Proceedings (RP) at 364.
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based on RCW 69.51A.010(6), determine that the condition was legally recognized, and
find the patient was a “qualifying patient.” That did not happen here. Instead, the
defense wanted the jury to speculate, based on the doctor’s legal conclusion, that the
patient had a qualifying condition. The trial judge, accordingly, properly rejected this
offer of proof and told the defense how to cure it—present the medical evidence, which
presumably would have meant the doctor’s testimony since the records appeared to lack
the necessary information.

Whether the diagnosis was of one of the legally recognized conditions is no less a
factual question for the jury to determine than whether or not the doctor even made a
diagnosis. The defense needed to establish both of those facts for the jury, Why the
majority allows the doctor to make the jury’s determination is unclear to me. The jury
has to find the fact that the doctor “diagnosed” the patient. The fact that the patient’s
condition was a “terminal or debilitating” one under the statute is also a jury question.
Presumably, if the doctor thought that acne or schizophrenia constituted a debilitating’
condition, the doctor would not be permitted to opine that the patient had a legally

_recognized basis for using marijuana. Why the doctor is permitted to opine that some

unknown diagnosis does qualify is unclear.

The trial judge properly concluded that the authorization form was inadequate to

establish that there was a “qualifying patient.”

1
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Secondly, the trial court correctly concluded that there was no foundation for
admitting the evidence. The majority overlooks several aspects of the ruling on the
motion in limine even while recognizing that the defense could present the evidence
through a proper records custodian. Here, the defense simply did not have the
appropriate person to present the records and made no attempt to obtain that person even
after the judge told the defense what was necessary.

The prosecutor sought to exclude the patient, Tristan Gilbert, from testifying that
the doctor had diagnosed him with a “terminal or debilitating medical condition” that
made him a “qualifying patient.” RCW 69.51A.010(4). The trial court agreed that it
would be hearsay for the patient to set forth the doctor’s diagnosis. The majority
apparently agrees. The trial judge also ruled that Mr. Gilbert was not a proper custodian
to admit the records. Once again, the majority agrees. See slip opinion at 16 n.3. The
trial court noted that the medical marijuana statute did not overrule the Evidence Rules,
nor did it set up an alternative evidentiary basis for admitting evidence, but simply left
those matters to the court system. RP at 361. Accordingly, the judge told the defense
that it would need to find “medical testimony” to establish the defense. CP at 52;

RP at 365. These rulings were all correct, and they provide the second reason why the

medical marijuana defense was properly rejected—there was no records custodian.
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Instead of seeking a records custodian to admit the records, the defense offered,
both at pretrial and again at trial, to put on only Mr, Gilbert to admit the records.

RP at 365, 507. Medical records are appropriately admitted at trial under The Uniform
Business Records as Evidence Act, chapter 5.45 RCW. See State v. Ziegler, 114 Wn.2d
533, 789 P.2d 79 (1990). RCW 5.45.020 provides that such a record is “competent
evidence if the custodian or other qualified witness testifies” to the method of preparation
in “the regular course of business.”

The authorization form is undoubtedly the doctor’s business record. Mr. Gilbert is
not a medical professional and did not work for the doctor. He could not testify that it
was the doctor’s record. He was not a records custodian for purposes of RCW 5.45.020.
For this reason, also, the trial court correctly ruled thaf the defense did not have a basis
for presenting the authorization form at trial.

The defense attempted to offer inadequate documentation through a person who
was not a custodian of the deficient records. The trial judge rejected the proffer for both
reasons. As both reasons were correct, we should be affirming the defendant’s

conviction, Since the majority reaches a contrary conclusion, I respectfully dissent.
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Trial Court County: Okanogan - Superior Court # 10-1-00152-1

Type of Document being Filed:

Designation of Clerk's Papers

L]

Statement of Arrangements
Motion:
Response/Reply to Motion:

Brief

LI O O O

Statement of Additional Authorities

L]

Affidavit of Attorney Fees
Cost Bill

Objection to Cost Bill
Affidavit

Letter

Electronic Copy of Verbatim Report of Proceedings - No. of Volumes:
Hearing Date(s):

Personal Restraint Petition (PRP)
Response to Personal Restraint Petition

Reply to Response to Personal Restraint Petition

N OODOODOOoOOoon

Other: _Petition for Review

Comments:

No Comments were entered.

Sender Name: Karl Sloan - Email: ksloan@c¢o.okanogan.wa.us



